FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
7/11/2019 11:26 AM
NO. 50722-6-II

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/12/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

97418-7

BALWINDER DEOL, et al

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

vs.

JAGJIT PREHAR, et ux et al,

Defendants/Appellants,

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

HONORABLE DANIEL STAHNKE

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CASSIE CRAWFORD Attorney for Plaintiffs/Respondents P.O. Box 61488 Vancouver, WA 98666 (360) 907-5696 BEN SHAFTON Attorney for Plaintiffs/Respondents Caron, Colven, Robison & Shafton, P.S. 900 Washington, Suite 1000 Vancouver, WA 98660 (360) 699-3001

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

This Petition for Review is made on behalf of Vancouver Sikh Society (VSS), the entity in whose favor the trial court granted judgment.

COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

VSS seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals filed June 11, 2019, reversing the trial court's judgment.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The following issues are presented for review:

- 1. Should a fiduciary of a nonprofit corporation be allowed to appropriate corporate funds for the purchase of property titled in his name without accounting for those funds or recognizing the corporation's interest in the property?
 - 2. Was Mr. Prehar guilty of conversion?
- 3. Is VSS entitled to relief under the doctrine of money had and received?
 - 4. Did the trial court correctly determine prejudgment interest?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

VSS is a nonprofit corporation. It was formed in 2012 to receive donations for the purchase of a building to conduct religious activities. Its articles of incorporation listed Jagjit Prehar and Harpreet Minhas as its directors. (Ex. 16) Many in Vancouver's Sikh community have considered themselves members of VSS. (RP 80) Sixteen of them executed a resolution in January of 2016 when this litigation began. (Ex. 84)

VSS received donations during 2011-12 when it negotiated to purchase a building at 4700 N.E. St. James Road in Vancouver. (Ex. 48) These donations were placed in bank account that VSS opened at a Wells Fargo Branch in downtown Vancouver. The purchase attempt ultimately failed because financing could not be arranged. Some of the people who had made donations asked for and received their money back. By the spring of 2013, the account had a balance of \$91,994.00. (CP 218)

By 2013, VSS's filing with the Secretary of State listed Mr. Prehar as president; Mr. Minhas as secretary and Parmjit Nagra as treasurer. (Ex. 16, 51; CP 218) Mr. Prehar and Mr. Nagra were listed as signers on the Wells Fargo Bank Account. (Ex. 52)

2

¹ The trial court prepared its own findings of fact but did not number them. References to the record will include citations to the Clerk's Papers where these findings are located.

The parties made another attempt to purchase the same building in 2013. In a document entitled Commercial and Investment Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement (the PSA) dated April 5, 2013, Mr. Prehar, his spouse Ashwinder Prehar, Mr. Nagra, and Maninderjits Kullar as purchasers contracted to purchase the land and building for \$460,000.00. The sum of \$300,000.00 was due all in cash at closing. The PSA called for the buyers to deposit \$5,000.00 of earnest money. The earnest money was deposited. It came from the VSS account at Wells Fargo. In a subsequently executed addendum executed on April 25, 2013, the seller agreed to take a promissory note from the purchasers for the balance of \$160,000.00. The note was to be secured by a deed of trust on the property. (Ex. 65-66; RP 433; RP 520; Ex. 1; Ex. 37—answer to Interrogatory No. 11; Ex. 67)

On May 3, 2013, another addendum was signed that removed Mr. Nagra and Mr. Kullar as purchasers. (Ex. 68) Mr. Prehar represented that this change was necessary to facilitate obtaining a loan for \$295,000.00 of the down payment. (RP 82, 717) It was understood, however, that the Prehars were not going to be the only title holders after the sale closed, and that VSS was to be placed in title. (RP 78, 258, 276, 717) Other members of the Sikh community had the same understanding. (RP 253, 259, 280, 288-89)

The transaction was subsequently closed on or about June 28, 2013. with the Prehars taking title. The Prehars executed the promissory note that had been called for in the April 25, 2018, addendum. They also deposited the cash necessary to pay the remainder of the purchase price. The settlement statement shows that this included the sum of the \$85,000.00. That money came from the funds that had been deposited in the VSS account at Wells Fargo as donations. (Ex. 69-70) Mr. Prehar had withdrawn the \$85,000.00 from the Wells Fargo account on May 2, 2013. (Ex. 32; Ex. 37—answer to Interrogatory No. 11; Ex. 67; RP 486; RP 496-97; CP 219) For his part, Mr. Nagra never told Mr. Prehar that he could use money donated to VSS to purchase the property in his own name. Rather, VSS money was to be used to purchase property in the name of VSS. (RP 86) Tajinder Pal Singh, also known as Gurmel Singh, had donated money to VSS and not sought a refund. He also believed that the property was going to be titled in VSS' name. (RP 62-70; RP 274-76; Ex. 45-46)

Meanwhile, Mr. Prehar had allowed VSS to be administratively dissolved by the Secretary of State as of May 2013.² (CP 218) He then formed Gurudwara Sahib Vancouver, WA, Inc. (GSV) as a nonprofit corporation on July 14, 2013. (CP 218; Ex. 71)

_

² When this issue came to light, steps were taken to reinstate the corporation on January 20, 2016. (CP 218)

Mr. Prehar was then pressed to title the property in the name of VSS. In August of 2014, the Prehars offered to sell the property. Two options were given. One involved the Prehars selling the property for \$490,000.00. Mr. Nagra, on behalf of the community, requested two weeks to consider the matter. In the interim, the offer was revoked. Mr. Prehar then stated that he wanted \$800,000.00 for the property. (Ex. 73; RP 112; CP 219)

This unresolved issue led to rising tensions among VSS's membership. Mr. Prehar ultimately issued notices to certain members indicating that they were not permitted on the property and would be subject to criminal charges for trespass if they did not comply with the notice. (Ex. 77; CP 219)

This suit was filed on January 14, 2016, on behalf of VSS. (CP 1) An amended complaint was filed on behalf of members of VSS on January 26, 2016. (CP 79-86) The Prehars then answered.

The matter was tried to the Court on July 17-19, 2017. The Plaintiffs sought relief on a number of theories. These included conversion and imposition of a constructive trust. (CP 181-99)

On August 1, 2017, the trial entered judgment in favor of VSS. It determined that a demand for the return of the money occurred when the issue came to a head in August of 2014, and that the Prehars failure to return the money then amounted to a conversion. It granted judgment against the

Prehars for \$85,000.00 together with prejudgment interest at the rate of 12% per annum. It also allowed post judgment interest at the same rate. (CP 217-23) Neither side moved for reconsideration.

The Prehars then appealed. A cross appeal was filed on behalf of VSS. The Prehars' opening brief did not assign error to any of the trial court's findings of fact. It also took issue with the calculation of prejudgment interest and the rates imposed. The brief filed on behalf of VSS set out the cross appeal. Among other things, the cross appeal argued that the judgment should have included an additional \$5,000.00 that came from the VSS account to pay earnest money. It also argued that prejudgment interest should have run from the date of closing the transaction—June 28, 2013—at the latest. In their response, the Prehars conceded that if the judgment was affirmed it should be increased by \$5,000.00.

The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded for vacation of the judgment by opinion filed June 11, 2019.

ARGUMENT

I. Introduction.

The Supreme Court should take review of this matter because the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court and other decisions of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.1(b)(1), (2) First of all, the Court of Appeals ignored well-established rules that preclude a

corporate fiduciary from appropriating property to his or her own benefit and that recognize the interest of a party who contributes to the purchase price of real property. Secondly, it refused to acknowledge the Court's holding in *Seekamp v. Small*, 39 Wn.2d 578, 237 P.2d 589 (1951), in which the Court allowed relief to the aggrieved party even when strict requirements of the tort of conversion were not met.

In this case, a fiduciary of a nonprofit corporation involved in religious activity appropriated money to purchase property titled in his name and in the name of his spouse. He has refused to account to the corporation for this money or to recognize any interest that the corporation may have in the property. Community standards dictate that this simply should not happen. Therefore, the Supreme Court should take review because the case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.1(b)(4)

II. Mr. Prehar Was Guilty of Conversion.

The trial court ruled that Mr. Prehar had converted \$85,000.00 of money belonging to VSS. Conversion is the willful interference with a chattel without lawful justification whereby a person entitled to possession of the chattel is deprived of its possession. Wrongful intent is not an element of conversion, and good faith is not a defense. *Public Utilities District of Lewis County v. WPSSS*, 104 Wn.2d 353, 378, 705 P.2d 1195 (1985) Money

can be the subject of an action for conversion if it is capable of being identified, as when delivered at one time, by one act and in one mass. *Seekamp v. Small*, 39 Wn.2d 578, 583-84, 237 P.2d 589 (1951) Furthermore, the party charged with conversion must either have wrongfully received the money or have an obligation to return it. *Brown v. Brown*, 157 Wn.App. 803, 817-18, 239 P.3d 602 (2010)

The Court of Appeals concluded that the funds were not wrongfully received and that there was no demand for their return. Slip Opinion, p. 10 Its conclusion ignores clear concepts set out in a number opinions of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals.

First of all, the money was wrongfully received because it was appropriated from a nonprofit corporation by a corporate fiduciary. As a director, Mr. Prehar occupied a fiduciary relationship toward VSS. *Diaz v. Washington State Migrant Counsel*, 165 Wn.App. 59, 77, 265 P.3d 956 (2011); *Waltz v. Tanager Estates Homeowners Association*, 183 Wn.App. 85, 91, 332 P.3d 1133 (2016) A director of a nonprofit corporation—just as a director of a for profit corporation—is obliged to act in good faith and in a manner believed to be in the best interests of the corporation. See RCW 24.03.127; RCW 23B.08.300(1) Directors are therefore precluded from profiting at the expense of the corporations they serve. *Leppaluoto v. Eggleston*, 57 Wn.2d 393, 402, 357 P.2d 725 (1960); *Interlake Porsche* +

Audi, Inc. v. Blackburn, 45 Wn.App. 502, 509, 728 P.2d 597 (1986) Appropriation of corporate property by a director or officer will support a claim of conversion. It is also viewed as a breach of the director's fiduciary duty. Lang v. Hougan, 136 Wn.App. 708, 718, 150 P.3d 622 (2007)

A director's appropriation of corporate assets can, of course, be ratified. But there was no proof of ratification here. When corporate assets are appropriated by a corporate fiduciary, all shareholders must consent. *Fletcher Cyclopedia of Corporations*, § 1104, cited with favor in *Nursing Home Building Corp. v. DeHart*, 13 Wn.App. 489, 496-97, 535 P.2d 137 (1975) Members of a nonprofit corporation are analogous to the shareholders of a for profit corporation. VSS must be deemed to have members since its articles of incorporation do not state that there will be no members as required by RCW 24.03.065(1). Therefore, the Prehars would have to prove that all the members of VSS—not merely those in management—gave consent to VSS funds being used to allow the Prehars to obtain title to the property in their own name. They would also have to show that the members gave this consent after being apprised of all material facts, including their legal effect.³ As the Court stated in *Kane v. Klos.* 50 Wn.2d

³ The Court *In re Kitsap Dairyman's Association*, 6 Wn.App. 926, 940, 497 P.2d 604 (1972), cited *Kane v. Klos, supra*, on the issue of ratification in a case involving a nonprofit corporation. That means that there should be no difference between the ratification rules governing for-profit and nonprofit corporations.

778, 785, 314 P.2d 672 (1947):

For a cestui que trust to "ratify" or confirm a breach of trust, he must be apprised of all the material facts and as well of their legal effect. No half-hearted disclosure or partial discovery is sufficient in either respect. The trustee's duty of disclosure is not discharged by leaving the cestui to draw doubtful inferences, conclusions and suspicions.

In our case, the necessary disclosure would include all of the terms of the purchase of the building along with the source of all monies used for the purchase. All the members would have to be advised that VSS was contributing a total of \$90,000.00 to the sale price—the \$5,000.00 for earnest money as well as the \$85,000.00. Secondly, all legal effects would have had to be clearly explained. Specifically, the disclosure would have to note that the Prehars would be taking sole title to the property and that VSS would have no interest in the property; that the Prehars would have no obligation to reimburse VSS for the funds taken from its account to pay the purchase price; that the Prehars would not have to convey any interest in the property to VSS—not even a proportional share based on the \$90,000.00 of the \$460,000.00 purchase price that came from VSS funds; that the Prehars did not have to sell or convey the property to VSS or any combination of its members; that any agreement to sell or convey the property would have to be in writing to satisfy the statute of frauds and, if the agreement provided for

payment to the Prehars over time, the rigorous specifications for such an agreement contained in *Hubbell v. Ward*, 40 Wn.2d 779, 246 P.2d 468 (1952), would have to be met; and, perhaps most importantly, the Prehars could exclude anyone from the property that they desired.

Ratification is an affirmative defense. Giambattista v. National Bank of Commerce, 21 Wn.App. 723, 756, 586 P.2d 1180 (1978) The Prehars therefore bear the burden of proof. Washington Federal Savings and Loan Association v. McNaughton, 182 Wn.2d 281, 297, 325 P.3d 383 (2014) They must also show their good faith since the property was transferred into their names. Interlake Porsche + Audi v. Blackburn, supra, 45 Wn.App. at 512. The trial court made no findings as to what was disclosed. (CP 220) This absence of findings must be viewed as a finding against the Prehars. Golberg v. Sanglier, 96 Wn.2d 874, 880, 639 P.2d 1347 (1982) In any event, it is clear that full disclosure was not made. For his part, Mr. Nagra never told Mr. Prehar that he could use money donated to VSS to purchase the property in his own name. Rather, VSS money was to be used to purchase property in the name of VSS. (RP 86) Tajinder Pal Singh, also known as Gurmel Singh, had donated money to VSS and not sought a refund. He also believed that the property was going to be titled in VSS' name. (RP 62-70; RP 274-76; Ex. 45-46)

The trial court did make the following finding at CP 220:

At the time the funds were applied to the real estate purchase the managing members of VSS approved of the use and anticipated the use of the funds for the purchase of the real property in Defendant's name.

This finding would not be sufficient to support ratification because approval of all members was necessary as pointed out above.

Nonetheless, VSS assigned error to this finding. The Court of Appeals stated that VSS's position was based on the absence of board meetings or decisions and then rejected it. Slip Opinion, p. 12. The opinion misstates VSS's argument. VSS pointed out that decisions of a nonprofit corporation must be made by its directors as required by RCW 24.03.095; that the corporation's only two directors were Mr. Minhas and Mr. Prehar; that consent from someone other than Mr. Prehar would be required; that any assent from Mr. Prehar and Mr. Kullar was not relevant since neither was a director; that Mr. Prehar believed the property would be titled in the name of VSS; and that the record contained no evidence as to Mr. Minhas' position whether orally, at some meeting, or in the form of some document.

The briefing submitted on behalf of VSS pointed out that Mr. Prehar violated his fiduciary responsibility to VSS by appropriating the funds and that there was insufficient evidence of any ratification. It brought these cases cited above to the attention of the Court of Appeals.

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals chose not to address these points although the facts were clear and were found to exist by the trial court.

Secondly, the Prehars were guilty of conversion because they were obliged to return the funds based on the doctrine of unjust enrichment. Unjust enrichment is present when a defendant knowingly receives a benefit at the plaintiff's expense and the circumstances make it unjust for the defendant to retain the benefit without payment. The plaintiff is then entitled to restitution. Young v. Young, 164 Wn.2d 477, 484-85, 490, 191 P.3d 1258 (2008) The facts would have supported the imposition of a constructive trust on the property proportional to the percentage of the purchase price that came from VSS's funds. That remedy is applied when title is placed in one person under circumstances as to make it inequitable for him or her to enjoy that interest. It is designed to avoid unjust enrichment. Scymanski v. Default, 80 Wn.2d 77, 89, 491 P.2d 1050 It should be authorized in favor of a party who has advanced a (1971)portion of the purchase price but has not entered into an agreement setting out the terms of the relationship with the party who took title. See Mehelich v. Mehelich, 7 Wn.App. 545, 500 P.2d 779 (1972); Yates v. Taylor, 58 Wn.App. 187, 791 P.2d 924 (1990) There can be no doubt that the Prehars were unjustly enriched by using VSS funds to pay part of the purchase price of a building titled only in their name. The trial court

obviously thought so. Otherwise, it would not have awarded a judgment to VSS. The Court of Appeals stated that the record was insufficient for it to determine whether the Prehars were unjustly enriched. Slip Opinion, p. 10-11 By making this statement, the Court of Appeals impermissibly substituted its judgment for that of the trial court. See, e.g. *Holland v. Boeing Co.*, 90 Wn.2d 384, 393, 583 P.2d 621 (1978)

In short, Mr. Prehar was guilty of conversion. The findings of fact that the trial court made support that conclusion. The Court of Appeals decision to the contrary conflicts with well-established rules set out in decisions of the Supreme Court and other decisions of the Court of Appeals. The Supreme Court should therefore take review.

III. The Doctrine of Money Had and Received Precludes Reversal.

When the exacting elements of conversion are not met, the plaintiff is still entitled to recovery under the doctrine of money had and received no matter what legal theory the plaintiff utilized before the trial court. The Supreme Court came to that conclusion in *Seekamp v. Small, supra.* VSS advised the Court of Appeals of the Supreme Court's decision in that case. The Court of Appeals ignored that decision. The case is not cited anywhere in its opinion. On that basis, the decision of the Court of Appeals clearly conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court. Therefore, the Supreme Court should take review.

A party may be liable for money obtained under the doctrine of money had and received. This is a common law action devised by judges to give relief to meritorious claims where the elements of conversion may not have been satisfied. It is based on notions of restitution and is founded on the principle that no one ought unjustly to enrich himself at the expense of another. The gist of the action is that the defendant has received money which in equity and good conscience should have been paid to the plaintiff, and under such circumstances that he ought, by the ties of natural justice, to pay it over. *Seekamp v. Small, supra.*

In Seekamp v. Small, supra, the plaintiff gave the defendant \$1,500.00 to invest in onion futures. The defendant used the money to purchase onions and then sold them at a profit. He refused, however, to pay the profits over to the plaintiff. The plaintiff clearly asserted that he was making a tort claim and refused to amend his pleadings to allege a contract claim. The jury rendered a verdict in favor of the plaintiff. The trial court granted a new trial on the basis that the tort of conversion had not been proven. Specifically, there was no proof that the defendant was required to deliver specific money to the plaintiff. The Court agreed that the tort of conversion had not been proven. It ruled, however, that the plaintiff was entitled to relief under the doctrine of money had and received, apparently

without either party invoking that doctrine. It placed no importance on how the plaintiff characterized his claim, stating:

This is not a case where a party has alleged facts constituting one cause of action and proved facts entitling him to recover under a totally different cause of action. In this case, appellant both alleged and proved facts entitling him to recover for money had and received.

39 Wn.2d at 585 It modified the trial court's order to allow a new trial unless the plaintiff accepted judgment in a reduced amount justified by the evidence.

The teaching of *Seekamp v. Small, supra*, is clear. When conversion of money is alleged, the doctrine of money had and received should be used to uphold a verdict or judgment based on taking of money even when the requirements of the tort of conversion are not met.

The Court of Appeals determined that the elements of conversion had not been proven. VSS urged the Court of Appeals to affirm the judgment based on *Seekamp v. Small, supra*. The Court of Appeals refused to even address this argument in its decision even though the trial court's findings of fact clearly support a judgment on the basis of money had and received. The Prehars took \$85,000.00 from a bank account of VSS and applied it to property purchased in their name alone. They also used another \$5,000.00 to pay the earnest money as the Prehars conceded. These funds made up approximately 19.5% of the purchase price. But the Prehars have

never deeded an 19.5% ownership share in the building to VSS and have refused to recognize this source of funds when pressed by other community members. The trial court clearly believed that considerations of equity and good conscience required the Prehars to pay the money over to VSS. It would not have awarded judgment in favor of VSS if it did not think so.

The Court of Appeals' decision therefore conflicts with *Seekamp v.*Small, supra. Therefore, the Supreme Court should take review.

IV. Issues Concerning Interest.

The Court of Appeals did not decide the issues concerning interest that the parties raised. The Supreme Court will have to consider these if review is taken.

The parties agree that the claims are liquidated and that prejudgment interest is appropriate if a judgment is awarded in favor of VSS. The Prehars claim that the trial court erred by assessing interest at the rate of 12% per annum, and that the appropriate rate is the rate for post judgment interest set out in RCW 4.56.110(3)(b). The Prehars also fault the trial court's math in setting the amount of prejudgment interest. Finally, the Prehars also contend that the post judgment rate should be set based on RCW 4.56.110(3)(b).

VSS has argued that the trial court has not been given the opportunity to address its calculation since no motion for reconsideration was made and no motion under CR 60(a) was made. It has also contended

that the statute governing prejudgment interest is RCW 19.52.010(1)⁴ which allows for interest at 12% per annum. VSS also believes that the post judgment rate of interest should be 12% per annum.

CONCLUSION

The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with decisions of the Supreme Court and other decisions of the Court of Appeals. It also presents issue of substantial public interest since it involves conduct of the affairs of a nonprofit corporation. The Supreme Court should therefore take review. Upon doing so, the Court should modify the trial court's judgment to raise the principal to \$90,000.00 and rule that prejudgment interest at 12% per annum should begin on the date of the closing of the transaction.