FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/9/2019 8:27 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97418-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals Case No. 50722-6)

VANCOUVER SIKH SOCIETY, et al.,

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

V.

JAGJIT PREHAR, et ux et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

APPELLANTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Steven E. Turner Steven Turner Law PLLC 1409 Franklin Street, Suite 216 Vancouver, WA 98660 Telephone: (971) 563-4696 WSBA No. 33840 Attorney for Defendants and Appellants

I. Introduction

At the trial in this action, VSS tried mightily to prove that the Prehars converted the funds of VSS when those funds were applied toward the purchase of a building for use as a Gurudwara for the Sikh community in Vancouver, Washington. The trial court rejected this theory of conversion when it found: "At the time the funds were applied to the real estate purchase the managing members of VSS approved of the use and anticipated the use of the funds for the purchase of the real property in [the Prehars'] name." In its cross-appeal, VSS attacked this finding, but the Court of Appeals concluded it was supported by substantial evidence.

In its Petition for Review, VSS tries yet again to prove that the Prehars converted VSS's funds when the building was purchased, but VSS fails to show how the Court of Appeals erred in its conclusion. Instead, VSS raises other theories of liability, such as breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment,

¹ CP at 220.

and "money had and received." But the Court of Appeals correctly declined to address these theories, because they were not pled or argued to the trial court, and it would be unfair to the Prehars, "who did not have an opportunity to develop defenses or litigate the claims" in the trial court.²

Finally, the Petition for Review fails to show how this case meets any of the criteria for review set forth in RAP 13.4(b). VSS fails to identify a single Supreme Court decision or published Court of Appeals decision that is in conflict with the decision below. Moreover, VSS fails to show how this internecine dispute between these parties, which turns on its unique set of facts, involves an issue of substantial public interest. For all these reasons, explained at greater length herein, the Court should deny the Petition for Review.

² Court of Appeals Opinion, p. 11

II. Argument

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied the Pertinent Washington Law

As noted above, the "trial court found that the Prehars used \$85,000 of VSS's funds with VSS's permission." In particular, the trial court found that "[p]laintiff's evidence does not show that [the Prehars] misrepresented, misappropriated or breached their fiduciary duties to VSS. At the time the funds were applied to the real estate purchase the managing members of VSS approved of the use and anticipated the use of the funds for the purchase of the real property in [the Prehars'] name." As a result, the trial court rejected VSS's theory that the funds were converted at the time of this transaction.

The trial court concluded, however, that on August 28, 2014, "[w]ithin two weeks of August 12, 2014, when demand to return VSS property was made, [the Prehars] intentionally interfered with the \$85,000 belonging to VSS by unlawfully

³ Id. at p. 5

⁴ Id. at p. 6

retaining it."⁵ The Prehars challenged this finding on appeal on the grounds that it was not supported by any substantial evidence, because there was no evidence that any demand to return the money was ever made.

The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review to the Prehars' appeal, and there is no argument by VSS to the contrary. The Court of Appeals also applied the correct legal principals regarding the tort of conversion, and there is no argument by VSS to the contrary.

The Court of Appeals noted the substantial evidence that the "parties agreed that the Prehars would use VSS's funds to purchase the property in their own names." The Court of Appeals also cited to the testimony of VSS's witnesses and determined that "[t]here is no evidence in the record that VSS demanded the Prehars return the \$85,000." The Court of Appeals also held that "the demand to transfer title to the

⁵ Ibid.

⁶ Id. at p. 9

⁷ Ibid.

St. Johns property was insufficient to establish the tort of conversion for \$85,000." Based on the foregoing, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded, "[w]ithout a finding of fact that the Prehars interfered with the \$85,000 belonging to VSS, the trial court's conclusion that conversion occurred in August 2014 is unsupported by its findings."

The Court of Appeals then addressed the other claims, which VSS was raising for the first time on appeal—claims of unjust enrichment, breach of fiduciary duty, and money had and received. The Court of Appeals correctly noted that it could choose to address issues raised for the first time on appeal in appropriate circumstances, but the court followed its usual practice of declining to do so, noting the prejudice it would case to the Prehars. "To consider VSS's equitable claims for the first time on appeal would be particularly unfair to the Prehars,

⁸ Ibid.

⁹ Id. at p. 10

who did not have an opportunity to develop defenses or litigate the claims." ¹⁰

The Court of Appeals expanded on this point: "VSS's assertion of new causes of action for the first time on appeal circumvents the notice pleading rules and, if allowed, would deprive the Prehars of the opportunity to conduct discovery, present evidence, and otherwise respond in a meaningful way."

In addition, as the Court of Appeals observed, even if it had chosen to address these new causes of action for the first time on appeal, "the record is insufficient for us to decide these claims as a matter of law." The court noted that the record "contains conflicting evidence regarding whether the Prehars unfairly benefited from the transaction," and an "appellate court

¹⁰ Id. at p. 11

¹¹ Ibid.

¹² Ibid.

does not evaluate evidence, make factual findings, or evaluate such issues."¹³

Finally, the Court of Appeals addressed VSS's cross appeal, which challenged the trial court's factual finding that VSS approved of the use of its funds to help purchase the property in the Prehars' name. Once again, the court correctly applied the "substantial evidence" standard of review. After reviewing the pertinent evidence, the court concluded that there was substantial evidence to support this finding, thereby rejecting VSS's cross appeal.

These conclusions by the Court of Appeals rendered moot the remaining arguments regarding the proper amount of the judgment, the calculation of prejudgment and post-judgment interest, and the Prehars' affirmative defenses. A majority of the panel also determined that the opinion would not be printed in the Washington Appellate Reports. VSS made

¹³ Ibid.

no motion to publish the opinion, nor did it move for reconsideration.

B. There is No Conflict with Any Decision by the Supreme Court or any Published Decision by the Court of Appeals

Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), a party seeking review must show that "the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court," or that "the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals." In its petition, VSS strains to manufacture some artificial conflict between the decision below and those of this Court and the Court of Appeals.

Despite its strenuous efforts, however, VSS fails in this endeavor.

VSS asserts two areas of conflict. First, VSS argues that the decision below "ignored well-established rules that preclude a corporate fiduciary from appropriating property to his or her

own benefit...." This argument fails, however, for several reasons.

First, as noted by the Court of Appeals, "VSS's complaint did not allege a cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty." As noted above, the appellate court correctly exercised its discretion to refuse to consider such a new cause of action for the first time on appeal. Because the court refused to address VSS's claim for breach of fiduciary duty, the court's decision simply cannot conflict with any "well-established rules" regarding corporate fiduciary duties.

Moreover, all of VSS's arguments in this regard ignore the trial court's finding that "[p]laintiff's evidence does not show that [the Prehars] misrepresented, misappropriated or breached their fiduciary duties to VSS." VSS did not challenge this finding by the trial court; thus, it is a verity on appeal, and this argument is not a proper basis for seeking review.

¹⁴ Id. at p. 10

¹⁵ Id. at p. 6

VSS's second argument regarding an alleged conflict is that the Court of Appeals "refused to acknowledge the Court's holding in *Seekamp v. Small*, 39 Wn.2d 578, 237 P,2d 589 (1951)." But there is no conflict between the decision below *Seekamp*, because *Seekamp* dealt with a completely different set of facts.

In that case, the plaintiff willingly gave the defendant \$1,500 to invest in onions for him. When that investment was sold, it turned a profit of \$2,720, yielding a total sum of \$4,220. The defendant then took that money and—without any consent from the plaintiff—invested the \$4,220 in potato futures, suffering a heavy loss that wiped out the gains on the onions, and then some. The jury found the defendant liable for conversion, but they awarded the plaintiff the sum of \$5,500. This sum, however, was not supported by the evidence; the most that could have been converted was \$4,220. Rather than remand for a new trial, the Supreme Court ordered the trial

¹⁶ Seekamp v. Small, 39 Wn.2d 578, 237 P.2d 589 (1951)

court to issue a remittitur in the amount of \$4,220. As the Supreme Court concluded:

The jury having found against respondent on the issue of authorization to reinvest the proceeds of the onion sale in potato futures, the evidence clearly establishes that respondent had and received \$4,220 to which appellant was entitled. We know of no reason why appellant should not recover it in this action.¹⁷

The facts in *Seekamp* are in stark contrast to the facts presented here. VSS consented to Prehar's use of all its funds to help purchase the property. Prehar relied on this consent in putting an additional \$370,000 of his own money towards the purchase of the building, and in donating tens of thousands of dollars more to fund the Gurudwara's operations over the next several years. The defendant in *Seekamp* never had any consent to invest the plaintiff's money in a different investment, and he did not expend any of his own money in reliance on plaintiff's consent.

Thus, there is no conflict between *Seekamp* and this case.

Nevertheless, VSS argues that *Seekamp* stands for the broad

¹⁷ *Id.* at 584.

proposition that the appellate courts should always, *sua sponte*, invoke the doctrine of "money had and received" whenever there has been a "taking of money" but the "requirements of the tort of conversion are not met." VSS's argument, however, tries to stretch *Seekamp* way beyond its proper precedential value.

In sum, VSS has failed to identify a single decision by this Court, or any published decision by the Court of Appeals, that conflicts with the decision issued below. This decision is based on the lack of any substantial evidence to meet an essential element of the tort of conversion, and it is not the job of the appellate courts to rescue failed tort claims by adopting other theories of liability that were never pled or litigated in the trial court.

_

¹⁸ Petition for Review, p. 16

C. This Case Does not Involve Any Issue of Substantial Public Interest

In a last-ditch effort to persuade this Court to review and reverse the decision below, VSS argues that this case meets the requirements of RAP 13.4(b)(4), which allows for review when the "petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." As noted above, however, this case does not involve any sweeping legal issues that need to be addressed any further by this Court. Instead, the case is easily decided by applying the proper standard of review to the evidence, and by applying well-settled law regarding the elements of the tort of conversion. In other words, this case involves nothing more than a garden-variety conversion claim that was not proved.

As a result, this case does not meet the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b)(4). VSS argues that "community standards dictate" that the Prehars be held liable in this case. ¹⁹ But VSS's argument in this regard is based on the assumption—neither

¹⁹ Id. at p. 7

pled nor proved—that the Prehars violated some fiduciary duty to VSS by using its money as a small part of the purchase price for the property. This argument ignores the trial court's findings that the Prehars had VSS's consent to use these funds and that the Prehars neither misappropriated any funds nor breached any fiduciary duty. As a result, VSS's hoarse wail for "justice" in the name of "community standards" is simply misplaced.

D. The Issues Relating to Prejudgment and Post-Judgment Interest do not Warrant Review

Finally, the Petition for Review raises various issues regarding the proper calculation of prejudgment and post-judgment interest. Because there was no conversion, however, and no damage award, any issues regarding calculating interest are completely moot. None of these issues—on their own—would warrant review by this Court, especially when any

discussion on these issues would most likely be seen as *orbiter* dictum.

III. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, the Prehars respectfully request this Court to deny the Petition for Review.